FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/28/2020 9:20 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>9882</u>4-2

COA No. 78230-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN G. LONG,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM SEATTLE MUNICIPAL COURT Honorable Karen Donahue

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION

On a cold and rainy October night, Steven Long returned from work to his home and found that the City of Seattle had towed it away and impounded it. Long's home was his truck. It was the only home and the only shelter he had. All of his worldly possessions – his clothes, tools, food, cooking utensils – were stored in it. The City towed his truck away because Long had violated a city parking law by parking in the same place for more than 72 hours. Under the City Code, Long could not get his truck back unless and until he paid all accrued towing and storage fees, and with every passing day those fees kept accumulating. Moreover, if he did not pay those fees within fifteen days, the City was entitled to auction off his home. Long did not have the money to redeem his home. A magistrate approved a payment plan and Long was able to get his home back just three days before it was scheduled to be sold. For a total of 21 days Long was without his home and all his possessions.

The City insisted that he still had to pay the towing and storage fees that had accumulated. Long maintained that the City violated the Homestead Act by holding onto his home for 21 days and threatening to auction his truck if he did not pay all those fees. He also maintained that the accumulated storage fees constituted an excessive fine that violated the Eighth Amendment and Wash. Const., art. 1, §14. Finally, Long claimed that by impounding his home the City had violated Wash. Const., art. 1, §7.

In a RALJ appeal the Superior Court agreed with Long that the City had violated the Homestead Act and the Court of Appeals affirmed that

ruling. *Slip Op.* at 19. The RALJ judge also agreed with Long that the City's imposition of towing and storage fees in the amount of \$547.12 constituted a constitutionally excessive fine but the Court of Appeals disagreed. Based upon a misreading of this Court's decision in *State v. Clark*, 124 Wn.2d 90, 875 P.2d 613 (1994), the Court of Appeals rejected Long's excessive fines clause arguments and reversed the Superior Court's decision on that issue. The Court of Appeals also refused to consider Long's art. 1, \$7 arguments because they were raised for the first time on appeal. The Court concluded that Long had failed to show manifest constitutional error because he had not shown that the seizure of his home had any identifiable practical consequences. *Slip Op.* at 26-27.

Notwithstanding its asserted reliance on *Clark*, the decision below actually conflicts with *Clark* and ignores the holding of that case. The opinion fails to conduct any analysis of the *Clark* proportionality factors, and holds instead that fines that repay the government for the cost of enforcing the law can *never* constitute an excessive fine because the Government is entitled to rough remedial justice. In fact, this Court's decision in *Clark* expressly rejects such an absolute rule and explicitly holds that sometimes the repayment of the costs of enforcement *does* constitute an excessive fine. *Clark* also holds that a court considering an excessive fines clause claim is required to conduct a proportionality analysis that encompasses several factors, one of which is the severity of the criminal offense. The Court of Appeals completely failed to consider this factor, and overlooked the fact that in *Clark* the defendants' two offenses were both

class C felonies, whereas in this case the only "offense" was a civil infraction punishable by a fine of \$44.

Contrary to dicta in this Court's decision in *Clark*, the Court below failed to consider the fact that the seized property was Long's residence. Contrary to the express holding of *Tellevik v. Real Property*,, 83 Wn. App. 366, 921 P.2d 1088 (1996), the Court of Appeals failed to conduct any analysis of the proportionality factors that have been identified by this Court in *Clark* and by the U.S. Supreme Court. Contrary to centuries of common law and the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Timbs v. Indiana*, 139 S.Ct. 682, 203 L.Ed.2d 11 (2019), the Court below ignored the undisputed evidence of Long's extreme poverty and simply never considered Long's personal financial circumstances. CP 110. Finally, the Court of Appeals rejected the claim that towing and storage fees were excessive on the grounds that fines set by the Legislature are presumptively constitutional, overlooking the undisputed fact that the fees in this case were *not* set by the Legislature.

The Court below also failed to recognize the internal inconsistency of its opinion. On the one hand the Court held that Seattle violated the Homestead Act by withholding his home under threat of forced sale for 21 days. *Slip Op.* at 19.¹ On the other hand the Court held that ordering Long to pay the City \$547.12 was not constitutionally excessive because those

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 3

¹ "While the City did not ultimately forcibly sell Long's truck, *it did withhold his truck* under the threat of such a sale unless he agreed to pay the impoundment costs. Liberally construing the Act to achieve its purpose of protecting homes, we determine that *this violated the Homestead Act*." (Italics added).

costs were incurred by the City when the vehicle was towed and stored. But if withholding the vehicle for 21 days was unlawful then why should Long pay the City for expenses that it incurred by *illegally* storing the vehicle while withholding it from Long? What kind of "rough remedial justice" is achieved by making the parking violator compensate the City for the costs that it incurred by violating the Homestead Act?

Finally, the Court below failed to recognize that the record indisputably shows that the seizure of his home and all his possessions caused Long to suffer identifiable practical consequences and thus the Court erred in refusing to consider his art. 1, §7 claim. The opinion issued below holds that Long's home was illegally withheld for 21 days under the threat of forced sale in violation of the Homestead Act. But despite the holding, the Court below held that no practical and identifiable consequences resulted from the illegal withholding of his home.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Steven Long, Petitioner, seeks review of the decision issued below.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published decision issued on June 29, 2020. (Appx. A) (-- Wn. App.3d -- , 2020 WL 3547072).

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is an order that requires an offender to repay the State the costs of enforcement insulated from any judicial review to determine whether the repayment order is constitutionally excessive?
- 2. When a fine is challenged as constitutionally excessive is it error for the court to refuse to conduct a proportionality analysis?

- 3. When a fine is challenged as constitutionally excessive must the court consider the individual financial circumstances of the defendant?
- 4. Doe the presumption of constitutionality which applies to fines set by the Legislature apply to fines set by police department employees when they contract with a private company?
- 5. When government unlawfully withholds a person's home under threat of coerced sale, is an order requiring a person to repay government for the storage costs of such an unlawful withholding a constitutionally excessive fine?
- 6. Did the Court of Appeals err by failing to consider whether the fine in this case violated Wash. Const., art. 1, §14?
- 7. Did Petitioner's art. 1, §7 claim constitute manifest constitutional error because the unlawful withholding of his home for 21 days constituted practical and identifiable consequences resulting from an unreasonably long seizure?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The decision below summarizes the facts of this case as follows:

Long, a 60-year-old member of the Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes of Flathead Nation, was evicted from his apartment in 2014. Since then, he has lived in his truck, a 2000 GMC 2500 Sierra valued at about \$4,000. Long works as a general laborer and keeps work tools, as well as personal items, in his truck. Long's work includes construction, painting, light plumbing, mechanics, and other labor.

In June 2016, while driving his truck, Long heard "grinding noises" coming from the gears. Long pulled into a store parking lot and stayed there for a few weeks with the business's permission. On July 5, 2016, Long moved his truck to an unused gravel lot owned by the City. Long stated that he parked at the lot because "it is secluded, there were other individuals living in vehicles, and the public did not appear to use it regularly." The lot was also near a day center for the homeless.

Three months later, on October 5, 2016, police were dispatched to an area near the gravel lot for an unrelated complaint. After the police

dealt with the complainant, another individual walked up and reported an incident involving Long. The officers approached Long and told him that, under city ordinance, his truck could not remain parked on city property for more than 72 hours. Long states that he told the officers the truck was inoperable and that he needed a part to repair it. Long also claims he told the officers that the truck was his home. The officers called a parking enforcement officer (PEO) to "tag" the truck. A PEO arrived and posted a 72-hour notice, which stated that the vehicle would be impounded it if he did not move it at least one city block within 72 hours, on Long's truck.

Long did not move his truck because he did not believe it was running well enough to drive. On October 12, 2016, Lincoln Towing, which contracts with the City to perform impound services, towed Long's truck while he was away working. Long learned of the impoundment when he returned to the lot around midnight. He was distressed because "it was a cold night and the beginning of an intense wind and rain storm." The truck contained his "winter jacket, clothes, sleeping bag, blankets, tools, tool boxes, air mattress, cooking stove and utensils, change for the bus, rubbing alcohol for [his] joints, laptop, and all [his] personal items for bathing and cleaning [him]self." After unsuccessfully trying to create a shelter out of a tarp, Long went to the nearby day center. Because the center did not have any available beds or mats, Long sat in a chair until the morning. Without his truck, Long began to live outside.

On October 18, 2016, Long obtained access to his truck at the Lincoln Towing lot and removed some personal items and bedding that he could carry. Long, however, could not afford to pay the costs to redeem his truck.

Long requested a hearing on the impoundment; the hearing occurred before a magistrate at Seattle Municipal Court on November 2, 2016. Long told the court that the truck was his home. But because Long did not argue that he had parked his truck legally, the magistrate determined that the ticket and impoundment were proper. The magistrate waived the \$44 ticket, reduced the impoundment charges from \$946.61 to \$547.12, and added a \$10 administrative fee. The magistrate set up a payment plan that required Long to pay \$50 per month. Long felt he "had no real choice but to agree" to the payment plan because he needed his truck and did not want the City to auction it.

After the hearing, Long retrieved his truck from the impound lot. There, he learned that if he had not retrieved the vehicle, Lincoln Towing would have sold it at auction three days later—on November 5, 2016. Long drove his truck to a friend's property for storage. As of March 13, 2017,

Long continued to experience homelessness, worked in Seattle, and lived outside.

Slip Op. at 5-7.

Purporting to rely on *Clark*, the Court of Appeals failed to consider any of the factors bearing on excessiveness on the ground that *Clark* holds that the recovery of the costs of enforcement can never be constitutionally excessive, and that fines set by the legislative body are entitled to a presumption that they are not excessive:

... If the value of the fine or forfeiture is within the range prescribed *by the legislative body*, a strong presumption exists that a forfeiture is constitutional. *United States v. Seher*, 562 F.3d 1344, 1371 (11th Cir. 2009).

Here, impounding Long's truck and requiring him to pay the associated fees is not a disproportionate punishment for a parking violation. Moving a vehicle has a direct relationship to the offense of illegally parking. And the fees are not excessive because the impoundment costs repay the City's agent, Lincoln Towing, for the costs of towing the vehicle based on contract. "The government is entitled to rough remedial justice." State v. Clark, 124 Wn.2d 90, 103, 875 P.2d 613 (1994), overruled on other grounds by *State v*. Catlett, 133 Wn.2d 355, 945 P.2d 700 (1997) (determining forfeitures of the defendant's homestead and motorhome was not excessive because their value nearly equaled the cost of prosecution and investigation). Moreover, towing illegally parked vehicles and requiring the owner to pay the associated costs are the exact penalties the City Council authorized for a violation of the 72hour rule. See SMC 11.72.440(E). Thus, a strong presumption exists that the penalties were not excessive, which presumption Long does not overcome. For these reasons, we conclude that neither the impoundment nor the associated costs constituted excessive punishment under the Eighth Amendment.

Opinion, at 21-22 (emphasis added).

VI. ARGUMENT FOR GRANTING REVIEW

A. Criteria for discretionary review.

The decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Clark* and with the Court of Appeals' decision in *Tellevik*; it raises significant questions of law under both the U.S. and Washington constitutions; and it involves significant issues of public interest that should be determined by this Court. All of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria for discretionary review are met in this case.

B. Excessive Fines Clause Issues

1. Contrary to *Clark*, which holds that an order requiring the offender to repay the costs of enforcement may sometimes constitute an excessive fine, the opinion below holds that such orders are never constitutionally excessive and fails to analyze any of the *Bajakajian* proportionality factors, such as the severity of the offense.

The decision below purports to rely on *Clark* as authority for the proposition that the "rough recovery" of the costs of prosecution can never constitute an excessive fine which violates the Eighth Amendment. But *Clark* actually *explicitly rejects* that proposition and states that *despite* a rough equivalence between a fine and the costs of prosecution, nevertheless a fine can still be constitutionally excessive:

The rough equivalence of the value of the property forfeited and the amount spent on prosecution *may not always* insulate a forfeiture from a finding that the forfeiture is "excessive".

Clark, 124 Wn.2d at 104 (emphasis added). Directly contrary to *Clark*, the very case it purports to rely on, the opinion below fails to consider, or even discuss, any of the traditional factors bearing on the excessiveness inquiry

(gravity of the offense; personal financial circumstances of the defendant; and whether the property is the defendant's residence).

In Clark the defendant was convicted of two Class C felonies, (possession of a controlled substance with intent to manufacture or deliver and possession of more than 40 grams of marijuana), both punishable by up to 5 years in prison. *Id.* at 94.² Through civil proceedings, the State sought to forfeit Clark's home, motor home, and van. Id. Finding that the combined equity in the home and motor home was \$30,921 and the cost of the prosecution and investigation was at least \$26,000, the Superior Court ordered forfeiture of the home and motor home. *Id.* at 103. Noting that there was a rough equivalence between the value of the forfeited property and the cost of prosecution, this Court held that in this particular case "[o]n the particular facts of this case" those forfeitures were not constitutionally excessive. But this Court also expressly held that such a "rough equivalence" "may not always insulate a forfeiture from a finding that the forfeiture is 'excessive." Id. at 104 (italics added). This Court then cited a number of cases to illustrate the kinds of factors that must be considered and the types of circumstances when a penalty would be found excessive despite such a rough equivalence:

See Austin, 509 U.S. at [623] n. 15, 113 S.Ct. at 2812 n. 15 (citing concurrence by Scalia, J.); United States v. Borromeo, 1 F.3d 219 (4th Cir. 1993) (compare value of property against nature of offense or amount needed to effectuate legitimate remedial purposes of forfeiture); United States v. One Single Family Residence Located at 18755 North Bay Road, Miami, 13 F.3d 1493 (11th Cir. 1994)

² Clark was sentenced to 8 months in jail and \$5,170 in fines. *Id.* at 95.

(because owner of house was not one who preyed systematically on citizens and whose syndicated operations are so continuous and so substantial as to be of national concern, forfeiture of his home worth \$150,000 was excessive); *United States v. Real Property Located at 6625 Zumirez Drive*, 845 F.Supp. 725 (C.D. Cal. 1994) (considering gravity of offense, harshness of punishment, whether defendant property was integral to offense, and whether activity involving defendant property, the forfeiture of father's home with \$625,000 equity as a result of son selling cocaine on property was excessive); *United States v. Certain Real Property*, 829 F.Supp. 1071 (E.D. Wisconsin 1993) (where substantial manufacturing operation had been established on property, forfeiture of property was not excessive).

On the particular facts of this case, however, we do not find the punishment in the form of the civil forfeitures of the Clarks' home and motorhome to be "excessive".

Clark, 124 Wn.2d at 104 (emphasis added).

When considering claims of excessiveness courts look at "the severity of the offense" as a key factor. *See United States v. Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. 321, 324, 339 (1998). Even though Bajakajian's offense was a felony, since "the harm that [he] caused was minimal" and since he "caused no loss to the public fisc," the Court found the forfeiture to be unconstitutional because it was "grossly disproportionate" to the offense. *Id.* at 326.

This case involves a civil parking infraction that is not even a criminal offense. Moreover, the record shows that Long's parking infraction did not affect anyone and caused no harm whatsoever. The spot where he parked was *not* a residential neighborhood, and he did not take up a spot that one would expect to be used by customers of any business, and his truck was not blocking anything. CP 60. So the "harm" caused by Long's infraction was

not merely "minimal," it was utterly nonexistent.³ See CP 1075. The Magna Charta, the predecessor to the Excessive Fines Clause, declared that no amercement should be imposed absent some "genuine harm." *Browning-Ferris v. Kelco Disposal, Inc.*, 492 U.S. 257, 271 (1989).⁴ The decision below fails to even consider whether his infraction caused a "genuine harm" and treats Long's infraction the same as Clark's felony drug offense.

The decision also conflicts with *Tellevik v. Real Property*, 83 Wn. App. 366, 921 P.2d 1088 (1996). There the State Patrol sought to forfeit John Chavez's home that he used to grow marijuana in. Chavez "asserted, in the course of arguing his excessive fines claim, that the trial court was required to conduct a proportionality-type analysis." *Id.* at 370. The trial court rejected his claim "without making a proportionality analysis." *Id.* The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded, holding that a proportionality analysis was constitutionally required. *Id.* at 375-76.

The Opinion in this case contains the same error. In Municipal

³ As the Superior Court RALJ judge noted: "To the extent I look at the City as a victim, *I don't see how the City was victimized here*. I could in a different parking situation easily see that, but this isn't that case because it doesn't look as though the area where Mr. Long was parked was in very hot demand for City vehicles or otherwise. So *I don't see a lot of relationship between the penalty here*, namely, the big towing fine or towing fee, *and the harm to the City caused by the defendant's actions.*" (Emphasis added).

⁴ The English King's practice of imposing crushing fines – "amercements" – on people who could not possibly pay them, prompted a legal response: "The Amercements Clause of Magna Carta limited these abuses in four ways: by requiring that one be amerced *only for some genuine harm* to the Crown; by requiring that *the amount of the amercement be proportioned to the wrong*; by requiring that *the amercement not be so large as to deprive him of his livelihood*; and by requiring that the amount of the amercement be fixed by one's peers, sworn to amerce only in a proportionate amount." *Id.* at 271 (emphasis added).

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