FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/27/2020 9:26 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98824-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN G. LONG,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney Brian Maxey, WSBA #33279 Erica R. Franklin, WSBA #43477 Assistant City Attorneys

Robert B. Mitchell, WSBA #10874 Aaron E. Millstein, WSBA #44315

K&L GATES LLP

E-mail: brian.maxey@seattle.gov E-mail: erica.franklin@seattle.gov E-mail: rob.mitchell@klgates.com E-mail: aaron.millstein@klgates.com

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

merely because it disputes the reasoning of that decision."). Here, the Court of Appeals accepted one of several alternative bases Long raised to challenge the payment plan. He is not "aggrieved" simply because he thinks it should have accepted more of them.

Long's non-aggrieved status precludes him from meeting the criteria for discretionary review in RAP 13.4(b). There can be no "significant question of [constitutional] law," RAP 13.4(b)(3), in a case that has been fully resolved on non-constitutional grounds. Nor can Long raise "an issue of substantial public interest," RAP 13.4(b)(4), where the obligation he challenges has already been vacated. For this reason, too, Long's lack of standing under RAP 3.1 requires that his petition for review be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals properly held that impounding Long's vehicle and requiring him to enter into a payment plan did not violate the Eighth Amendment.

Even if Long could be considered aggrieved, his claims do not merit review. The Court of Appeals conducted a proper proportionality analysis when it rejected Long's claim under the Excessive Fines Clause. In arguing otherwise, Long mischaracterizes the court's decision, the law, and the record. Moreover, neither the impoundment nor the payment plan is a "fine" under the Eighth Amendment. A temporary impoundment is not a fine because a fine requires permanent deprivation of property. *See, e.g., Coleman v. Watt*, 40 F.3d 255, 263 (8th Cir. 1994) (temporary vehicle

impoundment cannot constitute an Eighth Amendment fine). And in acknowledging that the payment plan was a means for the City to recover its cost of enforcement, *see* Pet. at 8–12, Long effectively concedes that requiring him to pay those costs was remedial, not punitive. This places the payment plan beyond the Eighth Amendment's reach. *See*, *e.g.*, *In re Metcalf*, 92 Wn. App. 165, 177–79, 963 P.2d 911 (1998).

1. The Court of Appeals conducted a proper proportionality analysis.

Long claims that the Court of Appeals rejected his Eighth Amendment argument solely because the "rough recovery' of the costs of prosecution can never constitute an excessive fine." Pet. at 8. Not so. The Court of Appeals never stated categorically that the rough recovery of costs negates an excessive fine. *See* 467 P.3d at 991. Rather, the court analyzed the proportionality of towing Long's truck and imposing on him part of the costs of impoundment. *Id.* Long's disagreement with the proportionality analysis in this case does not mean that the court failed to conduct one.

As *United States v. Bajakajian* recognizes, the constitutional touchstone in analyzing a claim under the Excessive Fines Clause is that the "amount of the forfeiture must bear some relationship to the gravity of the offense that it is designed to punish." 524 U.S. 321, 334, 118 S. Ct. 2028, 141 L. Ed. 2d 314 (1998). The Court of Appeals explained why this test is

met here: "Moving a vehicle has a direct relationship to the offense of illegally parking." 467 P.3d at 991. Further, the fees imposed on Long were not grossly disproportional to the offense because they "repay the City's agent, Lincoln Towing, for the costs of towing the vehicle" *Id.* Only after conducting this analysis did the Court of Appeals support its conclusion by noting that "[t]he government is entitled to rough remedial justice." *Id.* (quoting *Clark*, 124 Wn.2d at 103). This is plainly true. *See Clark*, 124 Wn.2d 90.³

Despite Long's arguments otherwise, "Bajakajian does not mandate the consideration of any rigid set of factors in deciding whether a punitive fine is 'grossly disproportional." U.S. v. Mackby, 339 F.3d 1013, 1016 (9th Cir. 2003). Rather, courts have "looked to factors similar to those used by the Court in Bajakajian." Id. There, the Supreme Court examined three factors in assessing gross disproportionality: (1) whether the defendant falls into the class of persons at whom the statute was directed; (2) other penalties authorized by the legislature for the same or similar offenses; and (3) the harm caused by the defendant. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. at

-

³ Long baldly asserts that temporarily impounding his truck must violate the Excessive Fines Clause because the Court of Appeals held that withholding his home under threat of forced sale violated the Homestead Act. Pet. at 3–4. But Long fails to support this assertion with argument or authority. In any case, the Court of Appeals never held that it was illegal to tow and store Long's truck or to charge him for the cost of doing so. Rather, the court held that the City could not force Long to choose between accepting the payment plan and having his truck sold.

337–40. The Court of Appeals considered each of these factors.

First, the Court of Appeals recognized that Long falls within the class of persons at which the 72-hour rule is directed because he illegally parked his truck. *See* 467 P.3d at 991 (discussing Long's illegal parking). Long never argues that the 72-hour rule targets a class that excludes him.

Second, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that "towing illegally parked vehicles and requiring the owner to pay the associated costs are the exact penalties the city council authorized for a violation of the 72-hour rule." *Id.* In reality, Long's "penalty" was less than what the City Council authorized, since he had to pay only a portion of the impoundment costs under his interest-free payment plan.

Third, while the Court of Appeals did not explicitly address the harm caused, its opinion recognizes that the payment plan partially repaid the City for towing and storage costs. *See id.* (noting that Long's liability served to repay the towing contractor). Long harmed the City by forcing it to incur impound costs.

Long's argument that the gravity of his civil parking infraction is much less than the criminal offenses considered in *Clark* and *Bajakajian* is misplaced. The question is not whether Long's conduct is criminal but whether impoundment has "some relationship" to the seriousness of his conduct. *Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. at 334. Having a vehicle towed at the owner's

expense is directly related to the owner's conduct in illegally parking and ignoring an explicit warning that the vehicle could be towed.

The decision in *Blake v. City of Grants Pass*, No. 1:18-cv-01823-CL, 2020 WL 4209227 (D. Or. July 22, 2020), does not change the analysis. There, the court held that fining a homeless person for sleeping outside beneath a blanket, which someone experiencing homelessness cannot avoid, was grossly disproportionate to the gravity of the offense. *Id.* at *11. Here, the City did not impose liability on Long for an unavoidable act. Rather, the City required him to move his vehicle because he had parked illegally. Long could have avoided any consequence by moving just one block, and he was given ample opportunity to do so.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Long's arguments. Its proportionality analysis is sound and accounts for all relevant factors. Neither impounding Long's truck nor imposing a payment plan was grossly disproportional to the offense of illegally parking his truck on City property.

2. The Court of Appeals properly deferred to the City Council's determination that those who violate the 72-hour rule should pay the costs of towing and impoundment.

Long next attacks the Court of Appeals' decision for applying the presumption that fines set by the legislature are seldom excessive. Pet. at

10

⁴ Long includes a separate section (Pet. at 16–17) discussing this recent decision but fails to explain how it supports his petition for review.

12–14. Long failed to address this presumption until his motion for reconsideration, despite the City's explicitly raising it in its briefing. *See* City Op. Br. at 22; City Reply Br. at 12. Hence, Long did not properly preserve the argument he now raises.

Long's argument also lacks merit. The City Council specifically authorized "towing illegally parked vehicles and requiring the owner to pay the associated costs." 467 P.3d at 991. The City's legislative body called for a competitively bid contract for the towing and storage of vehicles, SMC 11.30.220.B, and it required someone redeeming an impounded vehicle to first "pay the towing contractor for costs of impoundment (removal, towing, and storage) and administrative fee," SMC 11.30.120.B. Because the City Council passed these provisions, actions taken and charges levied under them are entitled to a presumption of proportionality. It is immaterial that the City Council did not itself set the rates for towing and storage.⁵

3. The Court of Appeals did not need to consider Long's circumstances, and doing so would not change the outcome.

Long's argument that the Court of Appeals had to consider his particular financial circumstances misreads *Timbs v. Indiana*, 139 S. Ct.

SMC 6.214.220 (specifying maximum private impound fees).

⁵ The costs set forth in the City's contract with Lincoln Towing are also well below those authorized by state law. *See* RCW 46.55.118(1)(a)–(b) (private towing companies may charge 135% of the maximum rates charged by the State Patrol for towing and storage); WAC 204-91A-140(2) (describing process by which State Patrol establishes its rates);

682, 203 L. Ed. 2d 11 (2019), and relies on a dissent from a 1989 Supreme Court decision, *Browning-Ferris Indus. of Vermont, Inc. v. Kelco Disposal, Inc.*, 492 U.S. 257, 300, 109 S. Ct. 2909, 106 L. Ed. 2d 219 (1989) (O'Connor, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). *See* Pet. at 14–16. Neither case requires considering the defendant's financial circumstances.

As the *Timbs* Court pointed out, *Bajakajian* took "no position on whether a person's income and wealth are relevant considerations in judging excessiveness of a fine." 139 S. Ct. at 688. *Timbs* itself addressed solely whether the Excessive Fines Clause is "an 'incorporated' protection applicable to the States under the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause"; it did not consider whether ability-to-pay is relevant to the Excessive Fines inquiry. *Id.* at 686; *see also Pimentel v. City of Los Angeles*, 966 F.3d 934, 941 (9th Cir. 2020) (citing *Bajakajian and Timbs* before rejecting a "novel claim in this circuit" and declining "to affirmatively incorporate a means-testing requirement for claims arising under the Eighth Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause").

All three federal circuits to have specifically addressed the issue hold that a defendant's personal financial circumstances are not relevant. *See U.S. v. Smith*, 656 F.3d 821, 828 (8th Cir. 2011); *U.S. v. Seher*, 562 F.3d 1344, 1371 (11th Cir. 2009); and *U.S. v. Dubose*, 146 F.3d 1141, 1146 (9th

Cir. 1998). Even if a court were to consider Long's personal circumstances, he fails to show that the outcome would be different.⁶

4. Long failed to raise his article 1, section 14 argument until his reply brief, and he did not provide a *Gunwall* analysis.

The Court should disregard Long's article 1, section 14 argument. First, he failed to address the issue in his opening brief despite raising it in his motion for discretionary review. Failure to brief an issue until reply waives the issue. *See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (a party who fails to present argument in the opening brief on a claimed assignment of error waives the claimed error). Long's claim that the City "ignored" this issue, Pet. at 17, blames the City for not responding to an argument he failed to make and thereby abandoned.

Second, even if Long could properly raise the issue in his reply brief, he failed to provide the required *Gunwall* analysis. *See Clark*, 124 Wn.2d at 102 n. 7 & 95 n. 2 ("Their failure to engage a *Gunwall* analysis in a timely fashion precludes us from entertaining their state constitutional claim."); *Tellevik v. Real Property*, 83 Wn. App. 366, 371, 921 P.2d 1088 (1996)

⁶ Long earned \$400–\$700 per month, CP 110, which is not so little as to make a \$50-permonth payment plan unconstitutionally excessive. Nothing in the record shows that either the temporary impoundment or the payment plan prevented Long from earning a living, as an analysis of personal circumstances would require. *See U.S. v. Viloski*, 814 F.3d 104, 114 (2d Cir. 2016). Although the Petition asserts that Long lost job opportunities while his tools were with his truck, "there is nothing in the record to support that he has been unable to work as a result of this incident." CP 16. Long could, and did, retrieve items from his truck while it was impounded. *See* CP 108–09.

(refusing to consider an excessive fines argument under art. 1, § 14 because appellant "has not provided a *Gunwall* analysis or any reason to believe that the Washington provision has a meaning different from the federal one.").

C. Long's Article 1, Section 7 claim is both procedurally and substantively flawed.

Long filed a supplemental brief shortly before oral argument in the Court of Appeals in which he claimed for the first time that the seizure of his truck violated article 1, section 7—because, he said, the parking enforcement officer failed to consider reasonable alternatives to impoundment. Long's petition abandons this argument; he now claims that the seizure became unlawful because its duration exceeded its permissible scope. Pet. at 19–20. He also argues that holding his truck was "constitutionally unreasonable" because it violated the Homestead Act. *Id.* But the Court of Appeals never ruled that the City wrongly held Long's truck; rather, it ruled that the payment plan was void. 467 P.3d at 983–84, 993. And Long gives no reason to believe that a Homestead Act violation is a per se violation of article 1, section 7.

Furthermore, the Court need not consider the merits of this issue because Long never presented any article 1, section 7 argument to the municipal court or superior court and never presented his current theory to

⁷ Long sought to justify filing this supplemental brief by asserting that *State v. Villela*, 194 Wn.2d 451, 450 P.3d 170 (2019), changed governing law. It did not.

the Court of Appeals. Long waived his argument by failing to make it in the lower courts, despite multiple chances to do so. *See* RAP 2.5(a); *Brundridge* v. *Fluor Fed. Servs.*, *Inc.*, 164 Wn.2d 432, 441, 191 P.3d 879 (2008).

To be sure, RAP 2.5(a)(3) permits a party to raise "manifest error affecting a constitutional right" for the first time on appeal. But that rule is not "a vehicle for relief from conscious decisions of trial counsel not to litigate constitutional issues at the trial court level." *State v. Walton*, 76 Wn. App. 364, 365, 884 P.2d 1348 (1994). RAP 2.5(a)(3) "requires a *manifest error* of constitutional magnitude, not simply the identification of a constitutional issue not litigated below, . . . and particularly not simply the identification of a constitutional issue *deliberately* not litigated below." *Id.* at 370 (emphasis original; internal quotations, alterations, and citations omitted). A "conscious decision not to raise a constitutional issue at trial . . . serves as an affirmative waiver." *Id.*

If Long thought he had a valid claim under article 1, section 7, a manifest error that he could raise for the first time before the Court of Appeals, he should have raised that claim in his 86-page opening brief. *See Cowiche*, 118 Wn.2d at 809 (refusing to consider an argument not presented in the opening brief). Allowing a party to raise a new argument after the opening brief rewards sandbagging and deprives the court of a fully

developed adversarial response. *See State v. Lee*, 82 Wn. App. 298, 313, 917 P.2d 159 (1996), *aff'd*, 135 Wn.2d 369 (1998).⁸

These principles apply with even greater force here because Long did not raise any claim under article 1, section 7 in his reply brief, either, despite discussing multiple article 1, section 7 cases. Though long aware of article 1, section 7, Long chose not to raise any argument under it until the eve of oral argument. Even then, the argument he presented to the Court of Appeals is not the same one he raises now. His failure to preserve the claim supplies an independent reason for the Court not to consider it. *See State v. Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d 167, 170, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992).

D. If the Court accepts review of Long's claims, the Court should also accept review of the Court of Appeals' ruling under the Homestead Act.

Long lacks standing to seek further review, and his arguments for review lack merit. If, however, this Court grants Long's petition—and only in that event—it should also review the one part of the Court of Appeals' decision that is both consequential and wrong: its homestead ruling. That

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